UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

(Mark One	QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION	13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EX	XCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the qua	arterly period ended June 30, 2020		
		O.P.	
	TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION	OR 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EX	XCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the tran	nsition period from to		
		Commission File Number: 001-36849	
	NATURAL	L HEALTH TRENI	OS CORP
		name of registrant as specified in its ch	
	Delaware	name of registrant as specified in its cr	59-2705336
	(State or other jurisdiction of		(I.R.S. Employer
	incorporation or organization)		Identification No.)
		Units 1205-07, 12F	
		Mira Place Tower A	
		132 Nathan Road, Tsimshatsui	
	(Address o	Kowloon, Hong Kong f principal executive offices, including	zin aada)
	`		• /
	Registrant's tele	ephone number, including area code: +8	352-3107-0800
Securities	registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Exchange Ac	t:	
	Title of each class	Trading Symbol(s)	Name of each exchange on which registered
	Common Stock, par value \$0.001 per share	NHTC	The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC
	12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant		r 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the 2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90
	check mark whether the registrant has submitted electropreceding 12 months (or for shorter period that the registrant has submitted electropreceding 12 months (or for shorter period that the registrant has submitted electropreceding 12 months (or for shorter period that the registrant has submitted electropreceding 12 months (or for shorter period that the registrant has submitted electropreceding 12 months (or for shorter period that the registrant has submitted electropreceding 12 months (or for shorter period that the registrant has submitted electropreceding 12 months (or for shorter period that the registrant has submitted electropreceding 12 months (or for shorter period that the registrant has submitted electropreceding 12 months (or for shorter period that the registrant has submitted electropreceding the registrant has been electropreceding the registrant h		uired to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T . Yes \square No \square
	See the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelera		erated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth "and "emerging growth company" in Rule 12b-2 of the
Large acce	lerated filer		Accelerated filer
Non-accele			Smaller reporting company Emerging growth company
	ging growth company, indicate by check mark if the region counting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of		ed transition period for complying with any new or revised
Indicate by	check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (a	as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act). Ye	es□ No ☑
At July 31,	2020, the number of shares outstanding of the registran	t's common stock wasl 1,422,539 share	es.

NATURAL HEALTH TRENDS CORP. Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q June 30, 2020

INDEX

		Page
PART I - FI	INANCIAL INFORMATION	_
Item 1.	Financial Statements	<u>1</u>
Item 2.	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	<u>16</u>
Item 3.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	<u>23</u>
Item 4.	Controls and Procedures	<u>23</u>
PART II - C	OTHER INFORMATION	
Item 1.	<u>Legal Proceedings</u>	<u>24</u>
Item 1A.	Risk Factors	<u>24</u>
Item 2.	Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds	<u>24</u>
Item 3.	<u>Defaults Upon Senior Securities</u>	<u>24</u>
Item 4.	Mine Safety Disclosures	<u>24</u>
Item 5.	Other Information	<u>24</u>
Item 6.	<u>Exhibits</u>	2 <u>4</u> 2 <u>4</u>
Signatures		<u>25</u>

Table of Contents

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, in particular "Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations," includes "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"). When used in this report, the words or phrases "will likely result," "expect," "intend," "will continue," "anticipate," "estimate," "project," "believe" and similar expressions are intended to identify "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of the Exchange Act. These statements represent our expectations or beliefs concerning, among other things, future revenue, earnings, growth strategies, new products and initiatives, future operations and operating results, and future business and market opportunities.

Forward-looking statements in this report speak only as of the date hereof, and forward-looking statements in documents incorporated by reference speak only as of the date of those documents. We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as required by law. We caution and advise readers that these statements are based on certain assumptions that may not be realized and involve risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from the expectations and beliefs contained herein.

For a summary of certain risks related to our business, see "Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors" in our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K, which includes the following:

- · We could be adversely affected by management changes or an inability to attract and retain key management, directors and consultants;
- Because our Hong Kong operations account for a substantial portion of our overall business, and substantially all of our Hong Kong business is derived from the
 sale of products to members in China, any material adverse change in our business relating to either Hong Kong or China would likely have a material adverse
 impact on our overall business;
- Our Hong Kong operations are being adversely affected by recent political and social developments in Hong Kong, and the negative impact on our operations and financial performance could continue or intensify;
- Our operations in China are subject to compliance with a myriad of applicable laws and regulations, and any actual or alleged violations of those laws or
 government actions otherwise directed at us could have a material adverse impact on our business and the value of our company;
- Our recent loss of a significant number of members is adversely affecting our business, and if we cannot stabilize or increase the number of members our business could be further negatively impacted;
- Epidemics, such as the 2020 coronavirus outbreak, or natural disasters, terrorist attacks or acts of war may seriously harm our business;
- We experienced negative operating cash flows during the year ended December 31, 2019, and if this trend continues it could have a material adverse effect on our business and our stock price:
- · We are currently involved in, and may in the future face, lawsuits, claims, and governmental proceedings and inquiries that could harm our business;
- · Although virtually all of our members are independent contractors, improper member actions that violate laws or regulations could harm our business;
- Direct-selling laws and regulations may prohibit or severely restrict our direct sales efforts and cause our revenue and profitability to decline, and regulators could adopt new regulations that harm our business;
- The high level of competition in our industry could adversely affect our business;
- Challenges by third parties to the legality of our business operations could harm our business;
- An increase in the amount of compensation paid to members would reduce profitability;
- Currency exchange rate fluctuations could lower our revenue and net income;
- · Changes in tax or duty laws, and unanticipated tax or duty liabilities, could adversely affect our net income;
- Transfer pricing regulations affect our business and results of operations;
- Our products and related activities are subject to extensive government regulation, which could delay, limit or prevent the sale of some of our products in some markets:
- · Failure of new products to gain member and market acceptance could harm our business;
- · New regulations governing the marketing and sale of nutritional supplements could harm our business;
- Regulations governing the production and marketing of our personal care products could harm our business;
- If we are found not to be in compliance with good manufacturing practices our operations could be harmed;
- Failure to comply with domestic and foreign laws and regulations governing product claims and advertising could harm our business;
- Adverse publicity associated with our products, ingredients or network marketing program, or those of similar companies, could harm our financial condition and operating results;

- We are subject to risks relating to product concentration and lack of revenue diversification;
- We rely on a limited number of independent third parties to manufacture and supply our products;
- · Growth may be impeded by the political and economic risks of entering and operating in foreign markets;
- · We are subject to anti-bribery laws, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act;
- Recently enacted tariffs, other potential changes to tariff and import/export regulations, and ongoing trade disputes between the United States and other
 jurisdictions, particularly China, may have a negative effect on global economic conditions and our business, financial results and financial condition;
- We may be held responsible for certain taxes or assessments relating to the activities of our members and service providers, which could harm our financial
 condition and operating results;
- · We may be unable to protect or use our intellectual property rights;
- · We do not have a comprehensive product liability insurance program and product liability claims could hurt our business;
- Failure to maintain effective internal controls in accordance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 could negatively impact our business and the market price of our stock;
- We rely on and are subject to risks associated with our reliance upon information technology systems;
- · System disruptions or failures, cybersecurity risks, and compromises of data could harm our business;
- Our systems, software and data reside on third-party servers, exposing us to risks that disruption or intrusion of those servers could temporarily or permanently interrupt our access and damage our business;
- · Disappointing quarterly revenue or operating results could cause the price of our common stock to fall;
- · Our common stock is particularly subject to volatility because of the industry and markets in which we operate;
- Our common stock continues to experience wide fluctuations in trading volumes and prices. This may make it more difficult for holders of our common stock to sell shares when they want and at prices they find attractive; and
- Future sales by us or our existing stockholders could depress the market price of our common stock.

Additional factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from our forward-looking statements are set forth in this report, including under the headings "Risk Factors" and "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations," and in our financial statements and the related notes.

Table of Contents

PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NATURAL HEALTH TRENDS CORP. CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (In thousands, except share data)

		une 30, 2020 Unaudited)	Dec	ember 31, 2019
ASSETS				
Current assets:				
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	93,206	\$	96,035
Inventories		4,114		6,404
Other current assets		5,057		5,936
Total current assets		102,377		108,375
Property and equipment, net		599		735
Operating lease right-of-use assets		3,096		3,135
Restricted cash		513		3,390
Deferred tax asset		1,163		2,039
Other assets		729		823
Total assets	\$	108,477	\$	118,497
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY				
Current liabilities:				
Accounts payable	\$	1,084	\$	680
Accrued commissions	•	3,113	•	2,931
Other accrued expenses		1,763		2,387
Deferred revenue		2,645		4,506
Amounts held in eWallets		11,438		12,938
Operating lease liabilities		1,247		1,655
Other current liabilities		1,438		1.205
Total current liabilities		22,728	_	26,302
Income taxes payable		13,748		15,365
Deferred tax liability		203		202
		1,963		1,564
Operating lease liabilities		-,		-,
Total liabilities		38,642	_	43,433
Commitments and contingencies (Note 7)				.,
Stockholders' equity:				
Preferred stock, \$0.001 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued and outstanding		_		_
Common stock, \$0.001 par value; 50,000,000 shares authorized; 12,979,414 shares issued at June 30, 2020 and				
December 31, 2019		13		13
Additional paid-in capital		86,102		86,102
Retained earnings		11,008		16,117
Accumulated other comprehensive loss		(1,384)		(1,264)
Treasury stock, at cost; 1,556,875 shares at June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019		(25,904)		(25,904)
Total stockholders' equity		69,835		75,064
	\$	108,477	\$	118,497
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity	Ψ	100,477	Ψ	110,477

Table of Contents

NATURAL HEALTH TRENDS CORP. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED) (In thousands, except per share data)

		Three Months	Ended J	une 30,	Six Months E	nded.	June 30,
		2020		2019	2020		2019
Net sales	\$	16,404	\$	23,428	\$ 31,352	\$	42,756
Cost of sales		4,817		5,407	 9,331		10,631
Gross profit		11,587		18,021	22,021		32,125
Operating expenses:							
Commissions expense		7,113		11,398	13,716		20,896
Selling, general and administrative expenses		4,291		6,627	 9,570		13,942
Total operating expenses		11,404		18,025	 23,286		34,838
Income (loss) from operations		183		(4)	(1,265)		(2,713)
Other income, net		125		373	 218		805
Income (loss) before income taxes		308		369	(1,047)		(1,908)
Income tax provision (benefit)		274		(28)	(508)		(382)
Net income (loss)	\$	34	\$	397	\$ (539)	\$	(1,526)
Net income (loss) per common share:							
Basic	\$	0.00	\$	0.04	\$ (0.05)	\$	(0.14)
Diluted	\$	0.00	\$	0.04	\$ (0.05)	\$	(0.14)
Weighted-average common shares outstanding:							
Basic	_	10,580		11,082	10,532		11,207
Diluted		11,424		11,135	 10,532		11,207

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

2

Table of Contents

NATURAL HEALTH TRENDS CORP. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) (UNAUDITED) (In thousands)

	Th	ree Months	June 30,		June 30,			
	2	2020		2019		2020		2019
Net income (loss)	\$	34	\$	397	\$	(539)	\$	(1,526)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:								
Foreign currency translation adjustment		84		(212)		(138)		47
Unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities		105		(6)		18		11
Comprehensive income (loss)	\$	223	\$	179	\$	(659)	\$	(1,468)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

3

Table of Contents

NATURAL HEALTH TRENDS CORP. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (UNAUDITED) (In Thousands, Except Share Data)

Six months ended June 30, 2020

							Accumulated			
					Additional		Other			
	Preferr	ed Stock	Common	Stock	Paid-In	Retained	Comprehensive	Treasury	Stock	
	Shares	Amount	Shares	Amount	_Capital	Earnings	Loss	Shares	Amount	Total
BALANCE, December 31, 2019	_	\$ —	12,979,414	\$ 13	\$ 86,102	\$ 16,117	\$ (1,264)	(1,556,875)	\$ (25,904)	\$ 75,064
Net loss	_	_	_	_	_	(573)	_	_	_	(573)
Dividends declared, \$0.20/share	_	_	_	_	_	(2,285)	_	_	_	(2,285)
Foreign currency translation										
adjustments	_	_	_	_	_	_	(222)	_	_	(222)
Unrealized losses on available-for-										
sale securities							(87)			(87)
BALANCE, March 31, 2020	_	_	12,979,414	13	86,102	13,259	(1,573)	(1,556,875)	(25,904)	71,897
Net income	_	_	_	_	_	34	_	_	—	34
Dividends declared, \$0.20/share	_	_	_	_	_	(2,285)	_	_	_	(2,285)
Foreign currency translation										
adjustments	_	_	_	_	_	_	84	_	_	84
Unrealized gains on available-for-sale										
securities							105			105

	BALANCE, June 30, 2020	— \$ —	12,979,414	\$ 13	\$ 86,102	\$ 11,008	\$ (1,384)	(1,556,875)	\$ (25,904)	\$ 69,835
--	------------------------	-----------	------------	-------	-----------	-----------	------------	-------------	-------------	-----------

Six months ended June 30, 2019

							Accumulated				
					Additional	Additional Other					
	Preferre	ed Stock	Common	Stock	Paid-In	Retained	Comprehensive	Treasury	Stock		
	Shares	Amount	Shares	Amount	Capital	Earnings	Loss	Shares	Amount	Total	
BALANCE, December 31, 2018	_	\$ —	12,979,414	\$ 13	\$ 86,415	\$ 44,431	\$ (1,250)	(1,603,322)	\$ (39,748)	\$89,861	
Net loss	_	_	_	_	_	(1,923)	_	_	_	(1,923)	
Common stock issued	_	_	_	_	(166)	_	_	22,603	543	377	
Dividends declared, \$0.24/share	_	_	_	_	_	(2,736)	_	_	_	(2,736)	
Foreign currency translation											
adjustments	_	_	_	_	_	_	259	_	—	259	
Unrealized gains on available-for-sale											
securities							17			17	
BALANCE, March 31, 2019	_	_	12,979,414	13	86,249	39,772	(974)	(1,580,719)	(39,205)	85,855	
Net income	_	_	_	_	_	397	_	_		397	
Repurchase of common stock	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	(612,729)	(6,682)	(6,682)	
Foreign currency translation											
adjustments	_	_	_	_	_	_	(212)	_		(212)	
Unrealized losses on available-for-											
sale securities							(6)			(6)	
BALANCE, June 30, 2019		<u>\$</u>	12,979,414	\$ 13	\$ 86,249	\$ 40,169	\$ (1,192)	(2,193,448)	\$ (45,887)	\$ 79,352	

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

4

Table of Contents

NATURAL HEALTH TRENDS CORP. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED) (In thousands)

		Six Months Er	nded Ju	une 30,
		2020		2019
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:				
Net loss	\$	(539)	\$	(1,526)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:				
Depreciation and amortization		202		189
Noncash lease expense		834		914
Deferred income taxes		870		(3)
Changes in assets and liabilities:				
Inventories		2,314		1,881
Other current assets		845		(752)
Other assets		82		(35)
Accounts payable		402		(956)
Accrued commissions		212		(5,475)
Other accrued expenses		(617)		(1,946)
Deferred revenue		(1,872)		(3,409)
Amounts held in eWallets		(1,560)		(765)
Operating lease liabilities		(811)		(964)
Income taxes payable		(1,617)		(1,617)
Other current liabilities		237		(318)
Long-term incentive		_		(277)
Net cash used in operating activities		(1,018)		(15,059)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:				
Purchases of property and equipment		(68)		(141)
Net cash used in investing activities		(68)		(141)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:				
Repurchase of common stock		_		(6,682)
Dividends paid	<u></u>	(4,570)		(2,736)
Net cash used in financing activities		(4,570)		(9,418)
Effect of exchange rates on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash		(50)		73
Net decrease in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash		(5,706)		(24,545)
CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH, beginning of period		99,425		135,651
CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH, end of period	\$	93,719	\$	111,106
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION:	· ·	,		,,,,,,
Issuance of treasury stock for employee awards, net	\$		\$	377
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for operating lease liabilities	\$ \$	1,081	\$	4,697
regin-or-use assets obtained in exchange for operating lease habilities	Φ	1,001	Φ	4,097

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS, BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND CONSOLIDATION

Nature of Operations

Natural Health Trends Corp., a Delaware corporation (whether or not including its subsidiaries, the "Company"), is an international direct-selling and e-commerce company. Subsidiaries controlled by the Company sell personal care, wellness, and "quality of life" products under the "NHT Global" brand.

The Company's wholly-owned subsidiaries have an active physical presence in the following markets: the Americas, which consists of the United States, Canada, Cayman Islands, Mexico and Peru; Greater China, which consists of Hong Kong, Taiwan and China; Southeast Asia, which consists of Singapore, Malaysia, Thailand and Vietnam; South Korea; Japan; India; and Europe. The Company also operates in Russia and Kazakhstan through an engagement with a local service provider.

Basis of Presentation

The unaudited interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America for interim financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Rule 10-01 of Regulation S-X. As a result, certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America have been condensed or omitted. In the opinion of management, the accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements contain all adjustments, consisting of normal recurring adjustments, considered necessary for a fair statement of the Company's financial information for the interim periods presented. The results of operations of any interim period are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations to be expected for the fiscal year. These consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes included in the Company's 2019 Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on March 9, 2020.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and all of its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All significant inter-company balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Restricted Cash

In June 2015, the Company funded a bank deposit account in the amount of CNY20 million (\$2.9 million at December 31, 2019) in anticipation of submitting a direct selling license application in China. Such deposit is required by Chinese laws to establish a consumer protection fund. The Company received a refund of this deposit in March 2020 in connection with the withdrawal of its application.

Net Income (Loss) Per Common Share

Diluted net income (loss) per common share is determined using the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period, adjusted for the dilutive effect of common stock equivalents. The dilutive effect of non-vested restricted stock is reflected by application of the treasury stock method. Under the treasury stock method, the amount of compensation cost for future service that the Company has not yet recognized, if any, is assumed to be used to repurchase shares.

The following tables illustrate the computation of basic and diluted net income (loss) per common share for the periods indicated (in thousands, except per share data):

			Т	Three Months Er	nded Ju	me 30,			
		2020					2019		
	Income (Numerator)	Shares (Denominator)		Per Share Amount		Income umerator)	Shares (Denominator)		Per Share Amount
Basic net income per common share:									
Net income available to common stockholders	\$ 34	10,580	\$	0.00	\$	397	11,082	\$	0.04
Effect of dilutive securities:									
Non-vested restricted stock		844					53		
Diluted net income per common share:									
Net income available to common stockholders						20-			
plus assumed conversions	\$ 34	11,424	\$	0.00	\$	397	11,135	\$	0.04
		C. M. d. F. L.H. 20							
				Six Months En	nded Ju	ne 30.			
		2020		Six Months En	nded Ju	ne 30,	2019		
		2020 Shares		Six Months En	nded Ju	Loss	2019 Shares		Per Share
	Loss (Numerator)				_	,			Per Share Amount
Basic net loss per common share:	Loss (Numerator)	Shares		Per Share	_	Loss	Shares		
Basic net loss per common share: Net loss available to common stockholders	Loss (Numerator) \$ (539)	Shares	\$	Per Share	_	Loss	Shares	\$	
•		Shares (Denominator)	\$	Per Share Amount	(N	Loss umerator)	Shares (Denominator)	\$	Amount
Net loss available to common stockholders		Shares (Denominator)	\$	Per Share Amount	(N	Loss umerator)	Shares (Denominator)	\$	Amount
Net loss available to common stockholders Effect of dilutive securities:		Shares (Denominator)	<u>\$</u>	Per Share Amount	(N	Loss umerator)	Shares (Denominator)	\$	Amount
Net loss available to common stockholders Effect of dilutive securities: Non-vested restricted stock		Shares (Denominator)	<u>\$</u>	Per Share Amount	(N	Loss umerator)	Shares (Denominator)	\$	Amount

In periods when losses are reported, the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding excludes common stock equivalents because their inclusion would be anti-dilutive. As such, non-vested restricted stock totaling 892,083 and 55,430 shares were not included for the six-month periods ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, which introduced an expected credit loss model for the impairment of financial assets measured at amortized cost basis and added Topic 326 to the FASB ASC. In November 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-11, Codification Improvements to Topic 326, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses. The amendments to ASU 2019-11 clarify, correct and make improvements to Topic 326. ASU 2016-13 as well as the updates in ASU 2019-11 are effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2022, and early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this standard on its consolidated financial statements.

Table of Contents

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Disclosure Framework - Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value Measurement. This guidance modifies, removes, and adds certain disclosure requirements on fair value measurements. This ASU is effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2019, and early adoption is permitted. The adoption of this standard didnot have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, *Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes.* This guidance removes certain exceptions for recognizing deferred taxes for investments, performing intraperiod allocation and calculating income taxes in interim periods. It also adds guidance to reduce complexity in certain areas, including recognizing deferred taxes for tax goodwill and allocating taxes to members of a consolidated group. This ASU is effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2020, and early adoption is permitted. The Company elected to early adopt the new standard during the first quarter of 2020. Such adoption did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statement.

Other recently issued accounting pronouncements did not or are not believed by management to have a material impact on the Company's present or future financial statements.

2. REVENUE

Revenue Recognition

All revenue is recognized when the performance obligations under a contract are satisfied. Product sales are recognized when the products are shipped and title passes to independent members. Product sales to members are made pursuant to a member agreement that provides for transfer of both title and risk of loss upon the Company's delivery to the carrier that completes delivery to the members, which is commonly referred to as "F.O.B. Shipping Point." The Company's sales arrangements do not contain right of inspection or customer acceptance provisions other than general rights of return. These contracts are generally short-term in nature.

Actual product returns are recorded as a reduction to net sales. The Company estimates and accrues a reserve for product returns based on its return policies and historical experience. The reserve is based upon the return policy of each country, which varies from 14 days to one year, and their historical return rates, which range from 1% to 10% of sales. Sales returns were 2% of sales for each of the six-month periods ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. No material changes in estimates have been recognized during the periods presented. See Note 3 for additional information.

The Company has elected to account for shipping and handling activities performed after title has passed to members as a fulfillment cost, and accrues for the costs of shipping and handling if revenue is recognized before the contractually obligated shipping and handling activities occurs. Shipping charges billed to members are included in net sales. Costs associated with shipments are included in cost of sales. Event and training revenue is deferred and recognized as the event or training occurs. Costs of events and member training are included within selling, general and administrative expenses.

Various taxes on the sale of products to members are collected by the Company as an agent and remitted to the respective taxing authority. These taxes are presented on a net basis and recorded as a liability until remitted to the respective taxing authority.

Deferred Revenue

The Company primarily receives payment by credit card at the time members place orders. Amounts received for unshipped product are considered a contract liability and are recorded as deferred revenue. The decrease in deferred revenue for the three months ended June 30, 2020 is primarily due to \$1.9 million of revenue recognized during the quarter that was included in deferred revenue as of March 31, 2020 offset by \$565,000 of cash payments received for unshipped product during the quarter. See Note 3 for additional information.

Disaggregation of Revenue

The Company sells products to a member network that operates in a seamless manner from market to market, except for the Chinese market where it sells to consumers through an e-commerce retail platform and the Russia and Kazakhstan market where the Company operates through an engagement of a third-party service provider. See Note 10 for revenue by market information.

Table of Contents

The Company's net sales by product and service are as follows (in thousands):

	Three Months Ended June 30,				Six Months Ended June 30,			
	2020		2019		2020		2019	
Product sales	\$ 15,200	\$	22,100	\$	29,211	\$	40,623	
Freight and other	1,454		1,745		2,538		3,245	
Less: sales returns	 (250)		(417)		(397)		(1,112)	
Total net sales	\$ 16,404	\$	23,428	\$	31,352	\$	42,756	

Concentration

No single market other than Hong Kong had net sales greater than 10% of total net sales. Sales are made to the Company's members and no single customer accounted for 10% or more of net sales for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019. However, the Company's business model can result in a concentration of sales to several different members and their network of members. Although no single member accounted for 10% or more of net sales, the loss of a key member or that member's network could have an adverse effect on the Company's net sales and financial results.

Arrangements with Multiple Performance Obligations

The Company's contracts with customers may include multiple performance obligations. For such arrangements, the Company allocates revenues to each performance obligation based on its relative standalone selling price. The Company generally determines standalone selling prices based on the prices charged for individual products to similar customers.

Practical Expedients

The Company generally expenses sales commissions when incurred because the amortization period would have beenone year or less. These costs are recorded in commissions expense.

The Company does not provide certain disclosures about unsatisfied performance obligations for contracts with an original expected length ofone year or less.

3. BALANCE SHEET COMPONENTS

The components of certain balance sheet amounts are as follows (in thousands):

	June	30, 2020	December 31, 2019		
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash:					
Cash	\$	14,020	\$	13,720	
Cash equivalents		79,186		82,315	
	<u> </u>	93,206		96,035	
Restricted cash		513		3,390	
	\$	93,719	\$	99,425	
Inventories:					
Finished goods	\$	3,368	\$	6,142	
Raw materials		1,253		1,249	
Reserve for obsolescence		(507)		(987)	
	\$	4,114	\$	6,404	
Other accrued expenses:					
Sales returns	\$	195	\$	373	
Employee-related expense		994		1,258	
Warehousing, inventory-related and other		574		756	
	\$	1,763	\$	2,387	
Deferred revenue:					
Unshipped product	\$	584	\$	2,390	
Auto ship advances		1,955		1,985	
Other		106		131	
	\$	2,645	\$	4,506	

4. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

As of June 30, 2020, cash and cash equivalents include the Company's investments in municipal and corporate debt securities, money market funds, and time deposits. The Company considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less when purchased and have insignificant interest rate risk to be cash equivalents. Debt securities classified as cash equivalents are required to be accounted for in accordance with the FASB Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 320, Investments - Debt and Equity Securities. As such, the Company determined its investments in debt securities held affune 30, 2020 should be classified as available-for-sale and are carried at fair value with unrealized gains and losses reported in stockholders' equity. The cost of debt securities is adjusted for amortization of premiums and discounts to maturity. This amortization is included in other income. Realized gains and losses, as well as interest income, are also included in other income. The fair values of securities are based on quoted market prices to the extent available or alternative pricing sources and models utilizing market observable inputs.

The carrying amounts of the Company's financial instruments, including cash and accounts payable, approximate fair value because of their short maturities. The carrying amount of the noncurrent restricted cash approximates fair value since, absent the restrictions, the underlying assets would be included in cash and cash equivalents.

Accounting standards permit companies, at their option, to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value. The Company has elected to not fair value existing eligible items.

9

Table of Contents

Investments by significant category included in cash equivalents at the end of each period were as follows (in thousands):

			June 30, 2020						December 31, 2019				
											Gross		
			Gross Unrealized					Unrealized					
	Fair Value Level ¹	Adju	sted Cost		Losses		Fair Value	Ac	ljusted Cost		Losses	F	air Value
Money market funds	Level 1	\$	35,607	\$	_	\$	35,607	\$	11,659	\$	_	\$	11,659
Time deposits	Level 2		12,077		_		12,077		13,544		_		13,544
Municipal debt securities	Level 2		31,198		_		31,198		347		_		347
Corporate debt securities	Level 2		305		(1)		304		56,784		(19)		56,765
Total investments		\$	79,187	\$	<u>(1)</u>	\$	79,186	\$	82,334	\$	(19)	\$	82,315

1 FASB Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements, establishes a fair value hierarchy that requires the use of observable market data, when available, and prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value in the following categories:

Level 1: Quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: Observable market-based inputs or unobservable inputs that are corroborated by market data.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs that are not corroborated by market data.

5. LEASES

The Company leases 9,600 square feet of office space in Hong Kong and 4,900 square feet of office space in Rolling Hills Estates, California for its corporate staff. In June 2020, the Company extended the Rolling Hills Estates office lease for an additional five years with a term now expiring in September 2030. Effective July 1, 2020, the Company modified the terms of its largest Hong Kong office lease resulting in 10% monthly lease cost savings and a lease extension through June 2023. The modification will also result in an \$831,000 increase in operating lease liability. To help further develop the market for its products in North America, the Company leases 2,400, 1,600 and 2,000 square feet of retail space in Monterey Park, California; Richmond, British Columbia; and Metuchen, New Jersey, respectively. The Monterey Park, Richmond and Metuchen locations have terms expiring in August 2020, February 2021, and November 2022, respectively.

The Company leases eight branch offices throughout China, and additional office space in Peru, Japan, Taiwan, South Korea, Singapore, Malaysia, Vietnam,

Indonesia, Thailand, India, and the Cayman Islands. The Company also leases a multi-purpose facility and factory in Zhongshan, China. The Company contracts with third parties for fulfillment and distribution operations in all of its international markets. None of the Company's third party logistics contracts contain a lease as the Company does not have the right to access the warehouses or move its inventories at will.

The components of lease cost for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 were as follows (in thousands):

	Three Months Ended June 30,			Six Months Ended June 30,			June 30,	
		2020		2019		2020		2019
Operating leases	\$	446	\$	523	\$	915	\$	1,032
Short-term leases		82		62		165		128
Total lease cost	\$	528	\$	585	\$	1,080	\$	1,160

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating leases liabilities was \$\frac{\$421,000}{2019} and \$577,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and \$\frac{\$900,000}{2019} and \$\frac{\$1.1}{2019} million for the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

The weighted-average remaining lease term and discount rate related to operating leases as ofJune 30, 2020 were as follows:

Weighted-average remaining lease term (in years)		6.1
Weighted-average discount rate		4.5%
	10	

Table of Contents

As most of our leases do not provide an implicit rate, the Company used its incremental borrowing rate, or the rate of each of its subsidiaries if available, based on the information available at the lease commencement date to determine the present value of lease payments.

The annual scheduled lease payments of our operating lease liabilities as of June 30, 2020 were as follows (in thousands):

Remainder of 2020	\$ 816
2021	743
2022	477
2023	224
2024	193
Thereafter	 1,186
Total lease payments	\$ 3,639
Less: imputed interest	 (429)
Present value of lease liabilities	\$ 3,210

For all asset classes, the Company elected not to recognize assets or liabilities at the acquisition date for leases that, at the acquisition date, have a remaining lease term of 12 months or less. Additionally, for all asset classes, the Company choosenot to separate nonlease components from lease components and instead account for the combined lease and nonlease components associated with that lease component as a single lease component.

6. INCOME TAXES

The effective income tax rate for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 includes an estimate for the Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income ("GILTI") inclusion along with recording the effect of the U.S. Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security ("CARES") Act enacted on March 27, 2020. The CARES Act makes broad changes to the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, including, but not limited to, the ability to carry net operating losses generated in tax years2018, 2019 or 2020 back to the each of the five tax years preceding the tax year of such loss.

As of June 30, 2020, the Company does not have a valuation allowance against its U.S. deferred tax assets. The Company analyzed all sources of available income and determined that they are more likely than not to realize the tax benefits of their deferred assets. As of June 30, 2020, the Company has a valuation allowance against deferred tax assets in certain foreign jurisdictions with an overall net operating loss. The valuation allowance will be reduced at such time as management believes it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will be realized. Any reductions in the valuation allowance will reduce future income tax provision.

As of June 30, 2020, the Company has U.S. federal net operating losses of \$3.6 million which are expected to be fully utilized to offset taxable income from the tax year ended December 31, 2016. The Company has U.S. state net operating loss carryforwards of \$2.4 million that begin expiring in 2040. At June 30, 2020, the Company has foreign net operating loss carryforwards of approximately \$3.3 million in various jurisdictions with various expirations.

As a result of capital return activities, the Company determined that a portion of its current undistributed foreign earnings is no longer deemed reinvested indefinitely by its non-U.S. subsidiaries. For state income tax purposes, the Company will continue to periodically reassess the needs of its foreign subsidiaries and update its indefinite reinvestment assertion as necessary. To the extent that additional foreign earnings are not deemed permanently reinvested, the Company expects to recognize additional income tax provision at the applicable state corporate income tax rate(s). As of June 30, 2020, the Company has not recorded a state deferred tax liability for earnings that the Company plans to repatriate out of accumulated earnings in future periods because all earnings as of June 30, 2020 have already been repatriated. Due to the U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act in 2017, repatriation from foreign subsidiaries will be offset with a dividends received deduction, resulting in little tono impact on federal tax expense. All undistributed earnings in excess of 50% of current earnings on an annual basis are intended to be reinvested indefinitely as ofJune 30, 2020.

11

Table of Contents

The Company and its subsidiaries file tax returns in the United States, California, New Jersey and Texas and various foreign jurisdictions. During the fourth quarter of 2018, the Company was notified that it was selected for audit of the 2016 tax year by the U.S. Internal Revenue Service. The audit was expanded to also include the 2017 and 2018 tax years. For purposes of this audit, fiscal years since 2007 are open for examination by tax authorities as a result of net operating loss carryovers from older years being used to offset income in recent tax years. No adjustments have been proposed at this time. The Company is no longer subject to state income tax examinations for years prior to 2015.

7. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

On January 8, 2019, the Company and its two executive officers were named in a putative securities class action filed in the United States District Court for the Central District of California, captioned *Kauffman v. Natural Health Trends Corp*, Case No. 2:19-cv-00163. On May 3, 2019, the court issued an order appointing Xia Yang as lead plaintiff and appointing The Rosen Law Firm, P.A. as lead counsel. On June 3, 2019, lead plaintiff filed an amended complaint. On January 17, 2020, after briefing

and oral argument on the Company's motion to dismiss, the court issued an order dismissing the entire action with prejudice and ordering that judgment be entered for defendants. On February 14, 2020, plaintiff filed a notice of appeal to the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals. On April 9, 2020, plaintiff filed a stipulated motion for voluntary dismissal of her appeal, concluding this matter.

The SEC is conducting a non-public investigation to determine whether there have been violations of the federal securities laws relating to the trading of the Company's securities and/or its public disclosures. The Company has fully cooperated with the SEC and continues to do so. The amount of time needed to resolve this matter is uncertain, and the Company cannot predict the outcome or whether it will face additional governmental inquiries or other actions.

8. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Dividends

The following table summarizes the Company's cash dividend activity for thesix months ended June 30, 2020 (in thousands, except per share data):

Declaration Date	Per Share	Amount	Record Date	Payment Date
February 10, 2020	\$ 0.20	\$ 2,285	February 25, 2020	March 6, 2020
May 4, 2020	 0.20	 2,285	May 19, 2020	May 29, 2020
	\$ 0.40	\$ 4,570		

The declaration and payment of any future dividends on shares of common stock will be at the sole discretion of the Company's Board of Directors.

Stock Repurchases

On January 12, 2016, the Board of Directors authorized an increase to the Company's stock repurchase programfirst approved on July 28, 2015 from \$15.0 million to \$70.0 million. Repurchases are expected to be executed to the extent that the Company's earnings and cash-on-hand allow, and will be made in accordance with all applicable securities laws and regulations, including Rule 10b-18 of the Exchange Act. For all or a portion of the authorized repurchase amount, the Companymay enter into one or more plans that are compliant with Rule 10b5-1 of the Exchange Act that are designed to facilitate these purchases. The stock repurchase program doesnot require the Company to acquire a specific number of shares, and may be suspended from time to time or discontinued.

On May 16, 2019, the Company's Board of Directors authorized the Company to proceed with the purchase of up to \$8.0 million in shares of common stock under the foregoing stock repurchase program. In connection therewith, the Company was advised that George K. Broady, a director of the Company and beneficial owner of more than 5% of its outstanding shares of common stock, would participate in the stock repurchase program through The George K. Broady2012 Irrevocable Trust (the "Broady Trust") on a basis roughly proportional to his family's ownership interest (see Note 9). During May 2019, the Company authorized its broker to proceed with the purchase of shares of the Company's common stock in the open market for a total purchase price of \$4.7 million in accordance with all applicable securities laws and regulations, including Rule 10b-18 of the Exchange Act. The open market repurchases were completed onMay 31, 2019. The stock repurchases, which included both open market purchases and the purchase of shares from the Broady Trust, resulted in the Company purchasing a total of 612,729 shares of its common stock for an aggregate purchase price of \$6.7 million, plus transaction costs.

As of June 30, 2020, \$21.9 million of the \$70.0 million stock repurchase program approved on July 28, 2015 and increased on January 12, 2016 remained available for future purchases, inclusive of related estimated income tax.

Restricted Stock

At the Company's annual meeting of stockholders held on April 7, 2016, the Company's stockholders approved the Natural Health Trends Corp. 2016 Equity Incentive Plan (the "2016 Plan") to replace its 2007 Equity Incentive Plan. The 2016 Plan allows for the grant of various equity awards including incentive stock options, non-statutory options, stock, stock units, stock appreciation rights and other similar equity-based awards to the Company's employees, officers, non-employee directors, contractors, consultants and advisors of the Company. Up to 2,500,000 shares of the Company's common stock (subject to adjustment under certain circumstances)may be issued pursuant to awards granted. At June 30, 2020, 1,219,583 shares remained available for issuance under the 2016 Plan.

12

Table of Contents

The following table summarizes the Company's restricted stock activity under the 2016 Plan:

		Wtd. A	vg. Price at
	Shares	Date of	of Issuance
Nonvested at December 31, 2019	957,682	\$	7.34
Vested	(195,722)	\$	7.53
Nonvested at June 30, 2020	761,960	\$	7.29

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

The changes in accumulated other comprehensive loss by component for the six months of 2020 were as follows (in thousands):

		Unrealized Gains	
	Foreign Currency	(Losses) on Available-	
	Translation Adjustment	For-Sale Investments	Total
Balance, December 31, 2019	\$ (1,245)	\$ (19)	\$ (1,264)
Other comprehensive income (loss)	(138)	18	(120)
Balance, June 30, 2020	\$ (1,383)	\$ (1)	\$ (1,384)

9. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company is a party to a Royalty Agreement and License with Broady Health Sciences, L.L.C., a Texas limited liability company, ("BHS") regarding the manufacture and sale of a product called ReStorTM. George K. Broady, a director of the Company and beneficial owner of more than 5% of its outstanding common stock, is owner of BHS. Under this agreement (as amended), the Company agreed to pay BHS a royalty based on a price per unit in return for the right to manufacture (or have manufactured), market, import, export and sell this product worldwide by or through multi-level marketing or network marketing. Such royalties were \$35,000 and \$29,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and \$50,000 and \$56,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and \$50,000 and \$50,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The Company is not required to purchase any product under the agreement, and the agreement may be terminated under certain circumstances with no notice. An amendment to the agreement effective March 20, 2020 extends the term of the agreement for an additional five years to March 31, 2025, after which it shall be automatically renewed for successive one-year terms unless notice is given by either party at least90 days in advance of the expiration of the then-current term.

The Company procured in China and arranged for shipment to The Aberdeen Group, LLC ("Aberdeen")one order of apparel products in the amount of \$7,100 during the three months ended March 31, 2019. Aberdeen is owned 40% by Sharng Holdings, which is wholly-owned by the Company's president, Chris T. Sharng, and his wife, 40% by Mr. Broady, and 20% by an unrelated third party. Aberdeen promptly paid the Company for the product and shipping cost incurred. Given the Company's provision of such product sourcing service to Aberdeen, Aberdeen also paid the Company a market-based fee consistent with the provision of such service of \$420. The Company analyzed the nature of the transaction with Aberdeen to determine whether it could be construed a violation under the guidelines of Section 402 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. The Company, through advice from its legal counsel, concluded that there is not a reasonable possibility that the transaction with Aberdeen would be deemed a violation of Section 402. This relationship between the Company and Aberdeen ceased following the completion of this transaction.

On May 17, 2019, the Company entered into a Stock Repurchase Agreement with The George K. Broady 2012 Irrevocable Trust ("Broady Trust"). Mr. Broady is the trustee and a beneficiary of the Broady Trust. The Stock Repurchase Agreement, which the Company and the Broady Trust entered into in accordance with Rule 10b5-1 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, provided for the Company's purchase of common stock from the Broady Trust in off-the-market, private transactions at a rate of 0.4105 times the number of shares purchased by the Company's broker in conjunction with the stock repurchase program authorized by the Company's Board of Directors on May 16, 2019. The Company's purchases from the Broady Trust concluded onMay 31, 2019, were completed at a per share purchase price equal to the weighted average price per share paid by the Company's broker in its open-market purchases, and resulted in the purchase of 178,324 shares of common stock for an aggregate purchase price of \$1.9 million. See Note 8.

13

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company sells products to a member network that operates in a seamless manner from market to market, except for the China market where it sells to some consumers through an e-commerce platform, and the Russia and Kazakhstan market where the Company's engagement of a third-party service provider results in a different economic structure than its other markets. Otherwise, the Company believes that all of its other operating segments have similar economic characteristics and are similar in the nature of the products sold, the product acquisition process, the types of customers products are sold to, the methods used to distribute the products, and the nature of the regulatory environment. Therefore, the Company aggregates its other operating segments (including its Hong Kong operating segment) into a single reporting segment (the "Primary Reporting Segment").

The Company reviews its net sales and operating income (loss) by operating segment, and reviews its assets and capital expenditures on a consolidated basis and to by operating segment. As such, net sales and operating income (loss) are presented by reportable segment and assets and capital expenditures by operating segment are not presented. Segment operating income (loss) is adjusted for certain direct costs and commission allocation.

The Company's operating information by geographic area are as follows (in thousands):

	Three Months Ended June 30,			June 30,	_	Six Months E	nded June 30,	
		2020		2019	2020		2019	
Net sales:								
Primary Reporting Segment	\$	15,416	\$	22,671	\$	29,424	\$	40,725
China		818		557		1,516		1,613
Russia and Kazakhstan		170		200		412		418
Total net sales	\$	16,404	\$	23,428	\$	31,352	\$	42,756
Income (loss) from operations:								
Primary Reporting Segment	\$	2,008	\$	3,710	\$	3,323	\$	4,532
China		13		(424)		(70)		(735)
Russia and Kazakhstan		104		(31)		22		(56)
Total income from operations for reportable segments		2,125		3,255		3,275		3,741
Unallocated corporate expenses		(1,942)		(3,259)		(4,540)		(6,454)
Other income, net		125		373		218		805
Income (loss) before income taxes	\$	308	\$	369	\$	(1,047)	\$	(1,908)

The Company's net sales by geographic area are as follows (in thousands):

	Three Months Ended June 30,				Six Months E	nded June 30,		
		2020		2019	2020		2019	
Net sales from external customers:								
United States	\$	372	\$	514	\$	863	\$	1,055
Canada		143		210		404		496
Peru		238		669		598		1,357
Hong Kong ¹		13,693		19,524		25,106		34,890
China		818		557		1,516		1,613
Taiwan		550		1,057		1,490		1,691
South Korea		41		84		168		190
Russia and Kazakhstan		170		200		412		418
Europe		255		331		488		674
Other foreign countries		124		282		307		372
Total net sales	\$	16,404	\$	23,428	\$	31,352	\$	42,756

¹ Substantially all of our Hong Kong revenues are derived from the sale of products that are delivered to members in China. See "Item! A. Risk Factors" in this report and in our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Effective July 1, 2020, the Company modified the terms of one of its Hong Kong office leases. See Note 5.

On August 3, 2020, the Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend of \$0.20 on each share of common stock outstanding. The dividend will be payable on August 28, 2020 to stockholders of record on August 18, 2020. The declaration and payment of any future dividends on shares of common stock will be at the sole discretion of the Company's Board of Directors.

15

Item 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Business Overview

We are an international direct-selling and e-commerce company. Subsidiaries controlled by us sell personal care, wellness, and "quality of life" products under the "NHT Global" brand. Our wholly-owned subsidiaries have an active physical presence in the following markets: the Americas, which consists of the United States, Canada, Cayman Islands, Mexico and Peru; Greater China, which consists of Hong Kong, Taiwan and China; Southeast Asia, which consists of Singapore, Malaysia, Thailand and Vietnam; South Korea; Japan; India; and Europe. We also operate in Russia and Kazakhstan through our engagement with a local service provider.

As of June 30, 2020, we were conducting business through 54,370 active members, compared to 56,490 three months ago and 78,280 a year ago. We consider a member "active" if they have placed at least one product order with us during the preceding year. Our priority is to focus our resources in our most promising markets, which we consider to be Greater China and countries where our existing members have the connections to recruit prospects and sell our products, such as Southeast Asia, India, South America and Europe.

We generate approximately 95% of our net sales from subsidiaries located outside the Americas, with sales of our Hong Kong subsidiary representing 84% of net sales in the latest fiscal quarter. Because of the size of our foreign operations, operating results can be impacted negatively or positively by factors such as foreign currency fluctuations, and economic, political and business conditions around the world. In addition, our business is subject to various laws and regulations, in particular, regulations related to direct selling activities that create uncertain risks for our business, including improper claims or activities by our members and potential inability to obtain necessary product registrations. We have identified certain matters of potential noncompliance and are working on a continuing basis to satisfactorily address such matters. For further information regarding some of the risks associated with the conduct of our business in China and Hong Kong, see generally in "Item 1A. Risk Factors" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019, and more specifically under the captions "Because our Hong Kong operations account for a substantial portion of our overall business...", "Our Hong Kong operations are being adversely affected by recent political and social developments in Hong Kong...", and "Our operations in China are subject to compliance with a myriad of applicable laws and regulations...".

China has been and continues to be our most important business development project. We operate an e-commerce direct selling model in Hong Kong that generates revenue derived from the sale of products to members in Hong Kong and elsewhere, including China. Substantially all of our Hong Kong revenues are derived from the sale of products that are delivered to members in China. Through a separate Chinese entity, we operate an e-commerce retail platform in China. We believe that neither of these activities require a direct selling license in China, which we do not currently hold. We previously submitted a preliminary application for a direct selling license in China in August 2015, but in 2019 a Chinese governmental authority recommended that we withdraw our application. We understand that the governmental authorities recommended that other companies with pending direct selling license applications also withdraw their applications. We applied to withdraw our application in November 2019, and the governmental authorities approved the withdrawal of our application shortly thereafter. In connection with the withdrawal of our application, we received a refund in March 2020 of a consumer protection fund deposit of CNY 20 million (\$2.9 million) that we made upon the submission of our application. We expect to reapply for a direct selling license in China when we believe that circumstances are again ripe for doing so. If we are ultimately able to obtain a direct selling license in China, we believe that the incentives inherent in the direct selling model in China would incrementally benefit our existing business. We do not expect that any increased sales in China derived from obtaining a direct selling license would initially be material and, in any event may be partially offset by the higher fixed costs associated with the establishment and when we will be successful in obtaining a direct selling license to operate in China, and if we are successful, when we will be permitted to conduct direct selling operations and whet

16

Table of Contents

On January 8, 2019, the Chinese government announced a 100-day campaign focused on companies involved in the sale of food, equipment, daily necessities, small home electrical appliances and services that are claimed to promote health. The Chinese government ministries in charge of this campaign indicated that they are targeting illegal practices in the industry, particularly the manufacture and sale of counterfeit and substandard products, and false advertising and misleading claims as to the health benefits of products and services. It is understood that the campaign is specifically focused on the business practices of direct selling companies. During the campaign, we understand that the government is not issuing any additional direct selling licenses, is not issuing certifications of quality or other approvals of various healthcare products, is reviewing its regulatory oversight of the industry, and is prohibiting companies from conducting large distributor meetings. Since it was implemented, the campaign and associated negative media coverage have had a significant adverse impact on our business, as consumers have widely curtailed their purchases within the affected industries. We, like some of our peers, voluntarily decided in January 2019 to temporarily suspend our member activities, such as product roadshows, product trainings and larger company-sponsored events, in China. We did this because we have learned that the 100-day campaign was announced in broad outlines by the central government, and the interpretation and enforcement of the campaign was delegated to the provincial and local governments. We consider it a top priority for our business to develop an understanding of and cooperate with all levels and jurisdictions of the government agencies, and did not want to run the risk of being inadvertently entangled in government enforcement actions as the provincial and local governments formulate and implement their interpretive guidance and rule-making. Although the 100-day campaign was due to expire on or about April 18, 2019, we are not aware of any information indicating that the campaign has formally concluded. However, on August 27, 2019, the Chinese government announced that it would conduct a "look-back review" to evaluate the 100-day campaign. As part of this review, we understand that various Chinese governmental agencies formed a working group to assess the 100-day campaign, particularly focusing on the health market and its supervision in certain provinces. We understand that during September 2019 the working group evaluated the performance and results of a number of organizations and governmental departments in these provinces and made recommendations for various improvements. It was noted that each province had opened a number of investigative cases, had successfully closed numerous cases, and had imposed various fines and penalties. We understand that the look-back review continued after September 2019, and we are not aware that this review has been completed. As a result, the business environment for health product companies operating in China continues to be challenging, which has recently been exacerbated by negative social media sentiment expressed for these types of companies. Our suspension of member activities currently remains in effect, and it may be necessary or advisable to repeat this or similar actions from time to time in the future. We believe that the campaign, as well as its extension and aftermath (including the look-back review), will continue to negatively impact our business in China in the near-term, but will ultimately benefit us and Chinese consumers in the long-term as purveyors of substandard products are driven from the market.

In late 2019 or early 2020 an outbreak of the coronavirus (COVID-19) was first identified in Wuhan, China. The coronavirus has since spread within China and in many countries around the world, and on March 11, 2020 the World Health Organization declared the coronavirus outbreak a global pandemic. The outbreak caused the Chinese government to implement powerful measures to control the virus, such as requiring businesses to close throughout various areas of China and restricting public gatherings and certain travel within the country. We conduct significant business in or near Wuhan and in 2019 generated approximately 81% of our revenue in Hong Kong, substantially all of which was derived from the sale of products to members in China. The Chinese government has recently taken steps to reduce some of the restrictive

measures that it imposed to control the coronavirus, while the governments of other countries in which we operate are working at various stages in their efforts to control the virus. The scope and impact of the pandemic and related control measures are uncertain, but we are taking steps to adapt some of our marketing programs, such as relying on certain product promotions and webcast training, to overcome the physical restrictions imposed in response to the outbreak. We also determined to cancel both of our major member events planned for 2020, as protecting the health and safety of our members, employees, and customers remains paramount. The severity of the impact on us of the pandemic will depend on future developments, including the duration and spread of the virus, and related control measures, which we are unable to accurately predict. Regardless, these disruptions have materially negatively impacted our financial results for the first two fiscal quarters of 2020, and we expect that our financial results for the remaining fiscal quarters of 2020 may be adversely affected. These disruptions have also adversely affected the operations of some of our third party logistics providers, and we expect that the future operations of these logistics providers and other third parties with whom we work may be adversely affected by these disruptions. We will continue to assess the operational and financial impact of the coronavirus pandemic for the remainder of the year. See "Item 1A. Risk Factors - Epidemics, such as the 2020 coronavirus outbreak, or natural disasters, terrorists attacks or acts of war..." in our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Recent political and social developments in Hong Kong are also adversely affecting our Hong Kong operations. Hong Kong has historically served as a key location for meetings and events for our members, but these developments recently led us to curtail the number and scope of such meetings and events. These recent developments in Hong Kong, along with our currently effective suspension of member activities in China, are negatively impacting our business.

17

Table of Contents

To date, the recently enacted tariffs and the trade disputes between the United States and China have not materially impacted our business, although they may have negatively impacted the value of the Chinese yuan, which has in turn negatively affected our Hong Kong revenues because the prices at which our Chinese members can purchase our products have effectively increased. In the event that political and trade tensions involving the United States, China and Hong Kong continue or intensify, our business could be negatively impacted in the future. For more information, see "Item 1A. Risk Factors - The China legislature's recent passage of a national security law in Hong Kong..." in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, and "Item 1A. Risk Factors - Recently enacted tariffs, other potential changes to tariff and import/export regulations, and ongoing trade disputes between the United States and other jurisdictions, particularly China..." in our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Our Hong Kong net sales (substantially all of which were derived from products shipped to members residing in China) for the first six months of 2020 were substantially lower than the comparable period in 2019, and it's likely that we will experience continued lower net sales on a year-over-year basis for the foreseeable future. The substantial decline in net sales during the first six months of 2020 resulted in a net loss for the six-month period ended June 30, 2020, as well as negative cash flows and a decreasing cash balance. We anticipate that our financial performance will be adversely impacted for the foreseeable future.

Statement of Operations Presentation

We mainly derive revenue from sales of products. Substantially all of our product sales are to independent members at published wholesale prices. Product sales are recognized when the products are shipped and title passes to independent members, which generally is upon our delivery to the carrier that completes delivery to the members. We estimate and accrue a reserve for product returns based on our return policies and historical experience. We bill members for shipping charges and recognize the freight revenue in net sales. We have elected to account for shipping and handling activities performed after title has passed to members as a fulfillment cost, and accrue for the costs of shipping and handling if revenue is recognized before the contractually obligated shipping and handling activities occurs. Event and training revenue is deferred and recognized as the event or training occurs.

Cost of sales consists primarily of products purchased from third-party manufacturers, freight cost for transporting products to our foreign subsidiaries and shipping products to members, import duties, packing materials, product royalties, costs of promotional materials sold to our members at or near cost, and provisions for slow moving or obsolete inventories. Cost of sales also includes purchasing costs, receiving costs, inspection costs and warehousing costs.

Member commissions are our most significant expense and are classified as an operating expense. Under our compensation plan, members are paid weekly commissions by our subsidiary in which they are enrolled, generally in their home country currency, for product purchases by their down-line member network across all geographic markets. Our China subsidiary maintains an e-commerce retail platform and does not pay commissions, although our Chinese members may participate in our compensation plan through our other subsidiaries. This "seamless" compensation plan enables a member located in one country to enroll other members located in other countries where we are authorized to conduct our business. Currently, there are basically two ways in which our members can earn income:

- · through commissions paid on the accumulated bonus volume from product purchases made by their down-line members and customers; and
- through retail profits on sales of products purchased by members at wholesale prices and resold at retail prices (for purchasers in some of our smaller markets and purchasers from our China subsidiary, sales are for personal consumption only and income may not be earned through retail profits).

Each of our products is designated a specified number of bonus volume points. Commissions are based on total personal and group bonus volume points per weekly sales period. Bonus volume points are essentially a percentage of a product's wholesale price. As the member's business expands from successfully enrolling other members who in turn expand their own businesses by selling product to other members, the member receives higher commissions from purchases made by an expanding down-line network. In some of our markets, to be eligible to receive commissions, a member may be required to make nominal monthly or other periodic purchases of our products. Certain of our subsidiaries do not require these nominal purchases for a member to be eligible to receive commissions. In determining commissions, the number of levels of down-line members included within the member's commissionable group increases as the number of memberships directly below the member increases.

18

Table of Contents

Under our current compensation plan, certain of our commission payouts may be limited to a hard cap dollar amount per week or a specific percentage of total product sales. In some markets, commissions may be further limited. In some markets, we also pay certain bonuses on purchases by up to three generations of personally sponsored members, as well as bonuses on commissions earned by up to seven generations of personally sponsored members. Members can also earn additional income, trips and other prizes in specific time-limited promotions and contests we hold from time to time. Member commissions are dependent on the sales mix and, for the first six months of 2020 and 2019, represented 44% and 49%, respectively, of net sales. Occasionally, we make modifications and enhancements to our compensation plan to help motivate members, which can have an impact on member commissions. We may also enter into performance-based agreements for business or market development, which can result in additional compensation to specific members.

Selling, general and administrative expenses consist of administrative compensation and benefits, travel, credit card fees and assessments, professional fees, certain occupancy costs, and other corporate administrative expenses (including stock-based compensation). In addition, this category includes selling, marketing, and promotion expenses (including the costs of member training events and conventions that are designed to increase both product awareness and member recruitment). Because our various member conventions are not always held at the same time each year, interim period comparisons will be impacted accordingly.

The functional currency of our international subsidiaries is generally their local currency. Local currency assets and liabilities are translated at the rates of exchange on the balance sheet date, and local currency revenues and expenses are translated at average rates of exchange during the period. Equity accounts are translated at historical rates. The resulting translation adjustments are recorded directly into stockholders' equity.

Sales by our foreign subsidiaries are generally transacted in the respective local currencies and are translated into U.S. dollars using average rates of exchange for

each monthly accounting period to which they relate. Most of our product purchases from third-party manufacturers are transacted in U.S. dollars. Consequently, our sales and net earnings are affected by changes in currency exchange rates, with sales and earnings generally increasing with a weakening U.S. dollar and decreasing with a strengthening U.S. dollar.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our operating results as a percentage of net sales for the periods indicated.

	Three Months End	ed June 30,	Six Months Ended June 30,		
	2020	2019	2020	2019	
Net sales	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	
Cost of sales	29.4	23.1	29.8	24.9	
Gross profit	70.6	76.9	70.2	75.1	
Operating expenses:					
Commissions expense	43.4	48.7	43.7	48.9	
Selling, general and administrative expenses	26.1	28.3	30.5	32.6	
Total operating expenses	69.5	77.0	74.2	81.5	
Income (loss) from operations	1.1	(0.1)	(4.0)	(6.4)	
Other income, net	0.8	1.6	0.7	1.9	
Income (loss) before income taxes	1.9	1.5	(3.3)	(4.5)	
Income tax provision (benefit)	1.7	(0.1)	(1.6)	(0.9)	
Net income (loss)	0.2%	1.6%	(1.7)%	(3.6)%	

19

Table of Contents

Net Sales

The following table sets forth revenue by market for the periods indicated (in thousands):

		-	Three Months Ende	ed June 30,		Six Months Ended June 30,				
	·	202	0	201	9	20	20	20	19	
Americas1	\$	753	4.6% \$	1,393	5.9%	\$ 1,865	5.9%	\$ 2,908	6.8%	
Hong Kong ²		13,693	83.5	19,524	83.3	25,106	80.1	34,890	81.6	
China		818	5.0	557	2.4	1,516	4.8	1,613	3.8	
Taiwan		550	3.4	1,057	4.5	1,490	4.8	1,691	3.9	
South Korea		41	0.2	84	0.4	168	0.5	190	0.4	
Japan		56	0.3	50	0.2	114	0.4	94	0.2	
Singapore		24	0.1	18	0.1	36	0.1	30	0.1	
Malaysia		33	0.2	85	0.4	87	0.3	119	0.3	
Russia and Kazakhstan		170	1.0	200	0.8	412	1.3	418	1.0	
Europe		255	1.6	331	1.4	488	1.6	674	1.6	
India		11	0.1	129	0.6	70	0.2	129	0.3	
Total	\$	16,404	100.0% \$	23,428	100.0%	\$ 31,352	100.0%	\$ 42,756	100.0%	

¹ United States, Canada, Mexico and Peru

Net sales were \$16.4 million for the three months ended June 30, 2020 compared with \$23.4 million for the comparable period a year ago, a decrease of \$7.0 million, or 30%. Hong Kong net sales, substantially all of which were derived from the sale of products shipped to members residing in China, decreased \$5.8 million, or 30%, over the comparable period a year ago. The decrease in our net sales primarily resulted from the impact of the coronavirus outbreak in China, and the related powerful measures implemented by the Chinese government to control the virus, including the required closure of some businesses and restrictions on public gatherings and travel. We believe that the decrease in our net sales can also be attributed to the continuing impact of China's 100-day campaign and the related look-back review. Due to both of these factors, the operating environment for our business in China remains restrictive. Outside of our Hong Kong business, net sales decreased \$1.2 million, or 31%, over the comparable three-month period a year ago due primarily to the spread of the coronavirus pandemic and efforts to control it in a number of countries around the world.

Net sales were \$31.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2020 compared with \$42.8 million for the comparable period a year ago, a decrease of \$11.4 million, or 27%, due to substantially the same factors that adversely affected net sales for the three months ended June 30, 2020.

As of June 30, 2020, deferred revenue was \$2.6 million, which primarily consisted of \$584,000 pertaining to unshipped product orders and \$2.0 million pertaining to auto ship advances.

Gross Profit

Gross profit was 70.6% of net sales for the three months ended June 30, 2020 compared with 76.9% of net sales for the three months ended June 30, 2019, and 70.2% of net sales for the six months ended June 30, 2020 compared with 75.1% of net sales for the six months ended June 30, 2019. The gross profit margin percentage decrease for the three and six month periods ended June 30, 2020 was primarily attributable to higher logistics costs and product promotions.

Commissions

Commissions were 43.4% of net sales for the three months ended June 30, 2020, compared with 48.7% of net sales for the three month period ended June 30, 2019, and 43.7% of net sales for the six months ended June 30, 2020, compared with 48.9% for the comparable period a year ago. The decrease as a percentage of net sales for the three and six month periods ended June 30, 2020 largely resulted from lower estimated costs for on-going incentive programs.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses were \$4.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2020 compared with \$6.6 million in the same period a year ago. For the six months ended June 30, 2020, selling, general and administrative expenses were \$9.6 million compared with \$13.9 million for the comparable period a year ago. The decrease in selling, general and administrative expenses during each of the three- and six-month periods as compared to the comparable periods in the prior year is primarily due to lower employee-related expenses and professional fees, as well as a decrease in event costs, as we did not hold a first-half 2020 major event due to the coronavirus outbreak.

² Substantially all of our Hong Kong revenues are derived from the sale of products that are delivered to members in China. See "Item 1A. Risk Factors" in this report and in our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Table of Contents

Income Taxes

An income tax provision of \$274,000 and an income tax benefit of \$28,000 was recognized during the three month periods ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. An income tax benefit of \$508,000 and \$382,000 was recognized during the six month periods ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The increased tax benefit during 2020 is due primarily to the deferred tax asset adjustment necessary to reflect the net operating losses arising from the 2019 tax year, which is due to the CARES Act enacted in March 2020 (described below under "– Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates – Income Taxes") and are expected to be carried back to offset taxable income in tax year 2016.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

At June 30, 2020, our cash and cash equivalents totaled \$93.2 million. Total cash and cash equivalents decreased by \$2.8 million from December 31, 2019 to June 30, 2020, primarily due to the dividends paid during the first six months of 2020, offset by the refund received in March 2020 in connection with the withdrawal of our Chinese direct selling license application. We consider all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, when purchased, to be cash equivalents. As of June 30, 2020, we had \$79.2 million in available-for-sale investments classified as cash equivalents. In addition, cash and cash equivalents included \$12.3 million held in banks located within China subject to foreign currency controls.

As of June 30, 2020, the ratio of current assets to current liabilities was 4.50 to 1.00 and we had \$79.6 million of working capital. Working capital as of June 30, 2020 decreased \$2.4 million compared to our working capital as of December 31, 2019.

Cash used in operations was \$1.0 million for the first six months of 2020 compared with \$15.1 million in the comparable period of 2019. The improvement in operating cash flows resulted primarily from a smaller loss incurred during 2020 and a decrease in accrued commission payments.

Cash flows used in investing activities totaled \$68,000 and \$141,000 during the first six months of 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Cash flows used in financing activities during the first six months of 2020 included the following dividend payments (in thousands, except per share amounts):

Declaration Date	I	Per Share	Aı	nount	Record Date	Payment Date
February 10, 2020	\$	0.20	\$	2,285	February 25, 2020	March 6, 2020
May 4, 2020		0.20		2,285	May 19, 2020	May 29, 2020
	\$	0.40	\$	4,570		

Cash flows used in financing activities during the first six months of 2019 included the repurchase of common stock totaling \$6.7 million and dividend payments totaling \$2.7 million.

Subsequent to June 30, 2020, on August 3, 2020, the Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend of \$0.20 on each share of common stock outstanding. The dividend will be payable on August 28, 2020 to stockholders of record on August 18, 2020. The declaration and payment of any future dividends on shares of common stock will be at the sole discretion of the Company's Board of Directors.

On January 12, 2016, the Board of Directors authorized an increase to the Company's stock repurchase program first approved on July 28, 2015 from \$15.0 million to \$70.0 million. Repurchases are expected to be executed to the extent that the Company's earnings and cash-on-hand allow, and are made in accordance with all applicable securities laws and regulations, including Rule 10b-18 of the Exchange Act. For all or a portion of the authorized repurchase amount, the Company may enter into one or more plans that are compliant with Rule 10b5-1 of the Exchange Act that are designed to facilitate these purchases. The stock repurchase program does not require the Company to acquire a specific number of shares, and may be suspended from time to time or discontinued. As of June 30, 2020, \$21.9 million of the \$70.0 million stock repurchase program approved on July 28, 2015 and increased on January 12, 2016 remained available for future purchases, inclusive of related estimated income tax.

We believe that our existing internal liquidity, supported by cash on hand and cash flows from operations should be adequate to fund normal business operations and address our financial commitments for the foreseeable future.

We do not have any significant unused sources of liquid assets. If necessary, we may attempt to generate more funding from the capital markets, but currently we do not believe that will be necessary.

21

Table of Contents

Our priority is to focus our resources on investing in our most important markets, which we consider to be Greater China and countries where our existing members may have the connections to recruit prospects and sell our products, such as Southeast Asia, India, South America and Europe. We will continue to invest in our Mainland China entity for such purposes as establishing China-based manufacturing capabilities, increasing public awareness of our brand and our products, sourcing more Chinese-made products, building a chain of service stations, opening additional Healthy Lifestyle Centers or branch offices, adding local staffing and other requirements for a China direct selling license application.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

A summary of our significant accounting policies is provided in Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" of our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on March 9, 2020. The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported period. The process of determining significant estimates is fact specific and takes into account historical experience and current and expected economic conditions. To the extent that there are material differences between the estimates and actual results, future results of operations will be affected.

Critical accounting policies and estimates are defined as both those that are material to the portrayal of our financial condition and results of operations and as those that require management's most subjective judgments. Management believes our critical accounting policies and estimates are those related to revenue recognition, as well as those used in the determination of liabilities related to member commissions and income taxes.

Revenue Recognition. All revenue is recognized when the performance obligations under a contract are satisfied. Product sales are recorded when the products are shipped and title passes to independent members. Product sales to members are made pursuant to a member agreement that provides for transfer of both title and risk of loss upon our delivery to the carrier that completes delivery to the members, which is commonly referred to as "F.O.B. Shipping Point." We primarily receive payment by credit

card at the time members place orders. Our sales arrangements do not contain right of inspection or customer acceptance provisions other than general rights of return. Amounts received for unshipped product are recorded as deferred revenue. Such amounts totaled \$584,000 and \$2.4 million at June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively. Shipping charges billed to members are included in net sales. Costs associated with shipments are included in cost of sales. Event and training revenue is deferred and recognized as the event or training occurs.

Additionally, deferred revenue includes advances for auto ship orders. In certain markets, when a member's cumulative commission income reaches a certain threshold, a percentage of the member's weekly commission is held back as an advance and applied to an auto ship order once the accumulated amount of the advances is sufficient to pay for the pre-selected auto ship package of the member. Such advances were \$2.0 million at June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019.

Commissions. Independent members earn commissions based on total personal and group bonus volume points per weekly sales period. Each of our products are designated a specified number of bonus volume points, which is essentially a percentage of the product's wholesale price. We accrue commissions when earned and as the related revenue is recognized and pay commissions on product sales generally two weeks following the end of the weekly sales period.

Independent members may also earn incentives based on meeting certain qualifications during a designated incentive period, which may range from several weeks to up to a year. For each individual incentive, we estimate the total number of qualifiers as well as the expected per qualifier cost and accrue all costs associated with incentives throughout the qualification period. We regularly review and update, if necessary, the estimates of both qualifiers and cost as more information is obtained during the qualification period. Any resulting change in total cost is recognized over the remaining qualification period. Long-term promotions and incentives (lasting up to one year) can, in particular, result in uncertain ultimate cost. Accrued commissions, including the estimated cost of our international recognition incentive program and other supplemental programs, totaled \$3.1 million and \$2.9 million at June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively.

22

Table of Contents

Income Taxes. Deferred income taxes are recognized for differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities at enacted statutory rates for the years in which the temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. We evaluate the probability of realizing the future benefits of any of our deferred tax assets and record a valuation allowance when we believe a portion or all of our deferred tax assets may not be realized. Deferred tax expense or benefit is a result of changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Based on the technical merits of our tax position, tax benefits may be recognized if we determine it is more likely than not that our position will be sustained on examination by tax authorities. The complex nature of these estimates requires us to anticipate the likely application of tax law and make judgments on the largest benefit that has a greater than fifty percent likelihood of being realized prior to the completion and filing of tax returns for such periods. As of June 30, 2020, we do not have a valuation allowance against our U.S. deferred tax assets. We maintain a valuation allowance in certain foreign jurisdictions with an overall tax loss. The valuation allowance will be reduced at such time as management believes it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will be realized. Any reductions in the valuation allowance will reduce future income tax provision.

Provision for income taxes depends on the statutory tax rates in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate. As a result of capital return activities, we determined that a portion of our current undistributed foreign earnings are no longer deemed reinvested indefinitely by our non-U.S. subsidiaries. The Tax Act, enacted on December 22, 2017 by the U.S. government, required a one-time repatriation tax on certain un-repatriated earnings of foreign subsidiaries at a rate of 15.5% tax on post-1986 foreign earnings held in cash and an 8% rate on all other post-1986 earnings. Due to the adoption of a territorial tax regime, any foreign source portion of a qualified dividend received by a 10% U.S. corporate shareholder is exempt from U.S. federal tax, therefore resulting in any future repatriation having a minimal effect on our effective tax rate. For state income tax purposes, we will continue to periodically reassess the needs of our foreign subsidiaries and update our indefinite reinvestment assertion as necessary. To the extent that additional foreign earnings are not deemed permanently reinvested, we expect to recognize additional income tax provision at the applicable U.S. state corporate tax rate(s). As of June 30, 2020, we have not recorded a state deferred tax liability for earnings to be repatriated in the future because all earnings as of June 30, 2020 have already been repatriated. All undistributed earnings in excess of 50% of current earnings on an annual basis are intended to be reinvested indefinitely as of June 30, 2020.

The U.S. Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security ("CARES") Act was enacted on March 27, 2020. The CARES Act was enacted to provide tax relief to companies impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. In addition to other broad changes, the CARES Act allows for a 5-year carryback period for net operating losses arising in tax years beginning after 2017 and before 2021, effectively taking advantage of differences in tax rate as a result of enactment of the Tax Act. We booked a tax benefit in the quarter ended March 31, 2020 due to the net operating loss generated in the taxable year ended December 31, 2019.

We estimate what our effective tax rate will be for the full fiscal year at each interim reporting period and record a quarterly tax provision based on that estimated effective tax rate. Throughout the year that estimated rate may change based on variations in our business, changes in our corporate structure, changes in the geographic mix and amount of income, applicable tax laws and regulations, communications with tax authorities, as well as our estimated and actual level of annual pre-tax income. We adjust our income tax provision in the reporting period in which the change in our estimated rate occurs so that the year-to-date provision is consistent with the anticipated annual tax rate. The Company's effective tax rate projected for the year ending December 31, 2020 differs from the year ended December 31, 2019 primarily as a result of the CARES Act.

Item 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Not applicable under smaller reporting company disclosure rules.

Item 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Management, with the participation of the Company's principal executive officer and principal financial officer, evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act")) as of June 30, 2020. The Company's disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to management, including the Company's principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Based on this evaluation, the principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of June 30, 2020.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2020 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, internal control over financial reporting.

Item 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Reference is made to Part II, Item 1 of the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2020 for disclosure of a legal proceeding that has since been concluded.

Item 1A. RISK FACTORS

Our operations and financial results are subject to various risks and uncertainties, including those described in Part I, Item 1A, "Risk Factors" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, and the trading price of our common stock. There have been no material changes to our risk factors since our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019, except that we are now adding the following risk factor:

The China legislature's recent passage of a national security law in Hong Kong may escalate political and trade tensions involving the U.S., China and Hong Kong, which could harm our business and adversely affect our financial performance.

On June 30, 2020, China's legislature passed a national security law that changes the way Hong Kong has been governed since the territory was handed over by England to China in 1997. This law criminalizes secessionist activities, subversion, terrorism, and collusion with a foreign country or with external elements to endanger national security in Hong Kong. The U.S. State Department has announced that the U.S. no longer considers Hong Kong to have significant autonomy from China, and the U.S. administration is taking action to end many of the U.S. government's special trade and economic relations with Hong Kong. Further, on July 14, 2020 the U.S. enacted the Hong Kong Autonomy Act, authorizing the U.S. administration to impose sanctions against individuals and entities determined to materially contribute to the erosion of Hong Kong's autonomy, as well as to punish financial institutions that facilitate certain significant transactions. These and other recent actions may represent an escalation in political and trade tensions involving the U.S, China and Hong Kong, which could harm our business. A continued deterioration in these political or economic relations or other future unforeseen problems could disrupt our China and Hong Kong operations (including our Hong Kong office and employees), adversely affect the distribution of our products, reduce our net sales, increase the cost of conducting our operations, or result in retaliatory actions against U.S. interests, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and business.

Item 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

None.

Item 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

None.

Item 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.

Item 5. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

Item 6. EXHIBITS

Exhibit Number	Exhibit Description
3.1	Certificate of Incorporation of Natural Health Trends Corp. dated March 21, 2005, and Certificate of Amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation dated
	May 15, 2020.
31.1	Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
	Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2	Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
	Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.1	Certifications of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
	the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
101.INS	Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL
	document
101.SCH	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema
101.CAL	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation
101.DEF	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition
101.LAB	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels
101.PRE	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation
104	Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)
	24

Table of Contents

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

NATURAL HEALTH TRENDS CORP.

/s/ Timothy S. Davidson

Timothy S. Davidson Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)

Date: August 5, 2020

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Number	Exhibit Description
3.1	Certificate of Incorporation of Natural Health Trends Corp. dated March 21, 2005, and Certificate of Amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation dated May 15, 2020.
31.1	Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2	Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.1	Certifications of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
101.INS	Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document
101.SCH	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema
101.CAL	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation
101.DEF	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition
101.LAB	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels
101.PRE	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation
104	Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION OF NATURAL HEALTH TRENDS CORP.

NATURAL HEALTH T

- Section 1. The name of the Corporation is Natural Health Trends Corp.
- Section 2. The address of the Corporation's registered office in the State of Delaware is 1209 Orange Street, Corporation Trust Center, in the City of Wilmington, County of New Castle. The name of its registered agent at such address is The Corporation Trust Company.
- Section 3. The purpose of the Corporation is to engage in any lawful act or activity for which corporations may be organized under the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware.
- **Section 4.** The Corporation is to have perpetual existence.
- **Section 5.** The Corporation shall have the authority to issue 50,000,000 shares of Common Stock with a par value of \$0.001 per share. The Board of Directors of the Corporation has the authority, without further action by the stockholders, to issue 5,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock, par value \$0.001 per share, in one or more series and to fix the rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions thereof, including without limitation dividend rights, conversion rights, voting rights, terms of redemption, liquidation preferences, sinking fund terms and the number of shares constituting any series or the designation of such series, without any further vote or action by the stockholders.
- Section 6. At every annual or special meeting of stockholders of the Corporation, every holder of Common Stock shall be entitled to one vote, in person or by proxy, for each share of Common Stock standing in such holder's name on the books of the Corporation, subject to the rights of the holders of Preferred Stock. Subject to the rights of the holders of the Preferred Stock, the Common Stock shall be entitled to dividends out of funds legally available therefore, when, as and if declared and paid to the holders of Common Stock, and upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Corporation, to share ratably in the assets of the Corporation. The Common Stock shall not be redeemable.

Section 7. The number of directors of the Corporation shall be fixed in the manner provided in the Bylaws of the Corporation. The names and mailing addresses of the persons who are to serve as the initial directors of the Corporation until the first annual meeting of stockholders of the Corporation, or until their successors are elected and qualified are:

<u>Name</u>	Address
Sir Brian Wolfson	12901 Hutton Drive, Dallas, Texas 75234
Mark D. Woodburn	12901 Hutton Drive, Dallas, Texas 75234
Terry A. LaCore	12901 Hutton Drive, Dallas, Texas 75234
Randall A. Mason	12901 Hutton Drive, Dallas, Texas 75234
Robert H. Hesse	12901 Hutton Drive, Dallas, Texas 75234

- **Section 8.** Any director or the entire Board of Directors may be removed only for cause and only by the vote of the holders of two-thirds (2/3) of the securities of the Corporation then entitled to vote at an election of directors voting together as a single class.
- Section 9. Subject to the rights, if any, of the holders of any series of Preferred Stock then outstanding, newly created directorships resulting from any increase in the authorized number of directors or any vacancies in the Board of Directors resulting from death, resignation, disqualification or removal may be filled only by a majority vote of the directors then in office, though less than a quorum, and directors so chosen shall hold office for a term expiring at the next annual meeting of stockholders and until such director's successor shall have been duly elected and qualified
- Section 10. Cumulative voting in the election of directors or otherwise is hereby expressly prohibited. No stockholder shall have, as a stockholder of the Corporation, any preemptive right to acquire, purchase or subscribe for the purchase of any or all additional issues of stock of the Corporation or any or all classes or series thereof, or for any securities convertible into such stock, whether now or hereafter authorized. Nothing in this Article will prohibit the Corporation from granting by contract preemptive rights or other rights to purchase stock of the Corporation.
- Section 11. A director or former director of the Corporation shall not, to the fullest extent permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law as the same exists or may hereafter be amended, be liable to the Corporation or its stockholders for monetary damages for breach of his or her fiduciary duty to the Corporation or its stockholders.
- Section 12. In furtherance and not in limitation of the powers conferred by statute, the Bylaws of the Corporation may be altered, amended, or repealed or new Bylaws may be adopted by the Board of Directors at any regular or special meeting of the Board, subject to the stockholders' right to adopt, amend or repeal these Bylaws or adopt new Bylaws. Notwithstanding the foregoing and anything contained in the Bylaws to the contrary, the Bylaws shall not be amended or repealed by the stockholders, and no provision inconsistent therewith shall be adopted by the stockholders, without the affirmative vote of the holders of at least two-thirds (2/3) of the voting power of all shares of the Corporation entitled to vote generally in the election of directors voting together as a single class.
- Section 13. To the fullest extent permitted by the General Corporation Law of Delaware, as the same may be amended from time to time, the Corporation shall indemnify any and all of the current and former directors and officers of the Corporation, or any person who is or was serving at the Corporation's request as a director or officer of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise. The Corporation shall have the power to purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the Corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, limited liability company or other enterprise, against any liability asserted against such person and incurred by such person in any such capacity, or arising out of such person's status as such, whether or not the Corporation would have the power to indemnify such person against such liability.

No amendment nor repeal of this Article, nor the adoption of any provision of this Corporation's Certificate of Incorporation inconsistent with this Article, shall eliminate or reduce the effect of this Article, in respect of any matter occurring, or any action or proceeding accruing or arising or that, but for this Article, would accrue or arise, prior to such amendment, repeal or adoption of an inconsistent provision.

Section 14. Any action required or permitted to be taken at any annual or special meeting of stockholders may only be taken upon the vote of the stockholders at an annual or special meeting duly called and may not be taken by written consent of the stockholders. Special meetings of the stockholders, unless otherwise required by statute, may be called at any time only by the Chairman of the Board or the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation or a majority of the Board of Directors.

Section 15. The Corporation reserves the right to amend, alter, change or repeal any provision contained in this Certificate of Incorporation, in the manner now or hereafter prescribed by statute, and all rights conferred upon stockholders herein are granted subject to this reservation. In addition to any affirmative vote required by applicable law or any other provision of this Certificate of Incorporation or specified in any agreement, the affirmative vote of the holders of not less than two-thirds (2/3) of the voting power of all securities of the Corporation entitled to vote generally in the election of directors shall be required to amend, add, alter, change, repeal or adopt any provisions inconsistent with Sections 8, 12, 14 or this Section 15 of this Certificate of Incorporation.

Section 16. The name of the incorporator is Keith C. Zagar, and the address of the incorporator is 12901 Hutton Drive, Dallas, Texas 75234. The powers of the incorporator are to terminate upon the filing of this Certificate of Incorporation with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned, being the incorporator of the Corporation, for the purpose of forming a corporation pursuant to the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, does make this Certificate of Incorporation, hereby declaring and certifying that this is his act and deed and the facts herein stated are true, and accordingly has hereunto set his hand this 21st day of March, 2005.

By: /s/ Keith C. Zagar Keith C. Zagar, Incorporator

CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT TO THE CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION OF NATURAL HEALTH TRENDS CORP.

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 242 of the Delaware General Corporation Law ("DGCL"), Natural Health Trends Corp., a Delaware corporation (the "Corporation"), hereby certifies as follows:

ARTICLE I

The name of the Corporation is Natural Health Trends Corp.

ARTICLE II

Section 8 of the Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation is hereby amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows:

"Section 8. Any director or the entire Board of Directors may be removed, with or without cause, by the vote of the holders of two-thirds (2/3) of the securities of the Corporation then entitled to vote at an election of directors voting together as a single class."

ARTICLE III

Said amendment was duly adopted in accordance with the provisions of Section 242 of the Delaware General Corporation Law.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I HAVE HEREUNTO SET MY HAND THIS THE 15TH DAY OF MAY, 2020.

NATURAL HEALTH TRENDS CORP.

By: /s/ Timothy S. Davidson Timothy S. Davidson Senior Vice President

CERTIFICATION

- I, Chris T. Sharng, certify that:
- 1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Natural Health Trends Corp.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e)) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f)) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
- a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
- b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
- c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
- d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
- a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
- b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: August 5, 2020 /s/ Chris T. Sharng

Chris T. Sharng
President
(Principal Executive Officer)

CERTIFICATION

- I, Timothy S. Davidson, certify that:
- 1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Natural Health Trends Corp.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e)) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f)) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
- a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
- b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
- c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
- d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
- a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
- b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: August 5, 2020

/s/ Timothy S. Davidson
Timothy S. Davidson
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Natural Health Trends Corp. (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2020, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), we, Chris T. Sharng, the Principal Executive Officer, and Timothy S. Davidson, the Principal Financial Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of our knowledge:

- 1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
- 2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: August 5, 2020 /s/ Chris T. Sharng

Chris T. Sharng

President

(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: August 5, 2020 /s/ Timothy S. Davidson

Timothy S. Davidson

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)

The foregoing certifications are not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (Exchange Act), and are not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act, whether made before or after the date hereof, regardless of any general incorporation language in such filing.